Logging impacts on avian species richness and composition differ across latitudes and foraging and breeding habitat preferences

Joseph A. LaManna^{1*} and Thomas E. Martin²

¹Montana Cooperative Wildlife Research Unit, University of Montana, Natural Sciences Room 205, Missoula, MT 59812, U.S.A. ²Montana Cooperative Wildlife Research Unit, U.S. Geological Survey, University of Montana, Natural Sciences Room 205, Missoula, MT 59812, U.S.A.

ABSTRACT

Understanding the causes underlying changes in species diversity is a fundamental pursuit of ecology. Animal species richness and composition often change with decreased forest structural complexity associated with logging. Yet differences in latitude and forest type may strongly influence how species diversity responds to logging. We performed a meta-analysis of logging effects on local species richness and composition of birds across the world and assessed responses by different guilds (nesting strata, foraging strata, diet, and body size). This approach allowed identification of species attributes that might underlie responses to this anthropogenic disturbance. We only examined studies that allowed forests to regrow naturally following logging, and accounted for logging intensity, spatial extent, successional regrowth after logging, and the change in species composition expected due to random assembly from regional species pools. Selective logging in the tropics and clearcut logging in temperate latitudes caused loss of species from nearly all forest strata (ground to canopy), leading to substantial declines in species richness (up to 27% of species). Few species were lost or gained following any intensity of logging in lower-latitude temperate forests, but the relative abundances of these species changed substantially. Selective logging at higher-temperate latitudes generally replaced late-successional specialists with early-successional specialists, leading to no net changes in species richness but large changes in species composition. Removing less basal area during logging mitigated the loss of avian species from all forests and, in some cases, increased diversity in temperate forests. This meta-analysis provides insights into the important role of habitat specialization in determining differential responses of animal communities to logging across tropical and temperate latitudes.

Key words: biodiversity, birds, community ecology, habitat specialization, logging, meta-analysis, reproductive success, species composition, species richness.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
II.	Methods	3
	(1) Literature search and data collection	3
	(2) Statistical analyses	4
III.	Results	5
	(1) Data description	5
	(2) Logging effects on species richness across latitudes	5
	(3) Logging effects on species composition across latitudes	8
	(4) Logging effects differ among north-temperate forest types	9
IV.	Discussion	9
V.	Conclusions	15
VI.	Acknowledgements	16
VII.	References	16
VIII.	Supporting Information	18

* Address for correspondence (Tel: (314) 605-0604; Fax: (406) 243-6064; E-mail: joe.a.lamanna@gmail.com).

1

I. INTRODUCTION

Understanding the causes underlying changes in local species richness and composition is critically important for the conservation of biodiversity. Animal species richness and composition often change with decreased forest structural complexity associated with logging. Logging is an important and pervasive alteration of forest vegetation structure that occurs across most of the world (Hansen, Stehman & Potapov, 2010). Current logging practices can remove minimal amounts of timber (e.g. selective harvesting) to all or nearly all timber from the landscape (e.g. clearcut logging). Numerous local-scale studies have examined the impacts of these different types of logging on animal communities (Gray et al., 2007; Vanderwel, Malcolm & Mills, 2007; Burivalova, Sekercioğlu & Koh, 2014), often revealing very different effects of logging on species richness. Yet, no study has attempted to explain differential effects of logging on animal species richness and composition within and across latitudes. Such insights would be critically important to the conservation of biodiversity in a changing world.

Animal species richness can decrease as logging reduces the structural complexity of vegetation and associated breeding or foraging niches (MacArthur & MacArthur, 1961; MacArthur, Recher & Cody, 1966; Pianka, 1966a; Willson, 1974; Roth, 1976; Martin, 1988). Yet, the extent of change in the numbers and identities of animal species with vegetation structure may differ across latitudes depending on niche breadths. In particular, tropical species are thought to have narrower niche breadths (i.e. more habitat specialization) and to subdivide vegetation more finely than temperate species (MacArthur et al., 1966; Karr & Roth, 1971; Salisbury et al., 2012). If tropical species exhibit greater habitat specialization, especially in late-successional habitats, then logging in tropical forests may lead to steeper decreases in richness and greater changes in species composition compared to logging in temperate forests. However, some evidence indicates that tropical species (e.g. insects) may not exhibit greater habitat specialization than temperate counterparts (Novotny et al., 2006), suggesting that responses of species richness and composition to logging may be relatively consistent among temperate and tropical forests. Alternatively, greater species diversity in the tropics may make tropical communities more resistant to logging than temperate communities (Ives & Carpenter, 2007), which might lead to stronger changes in species richness or composition in temperate forests compared with tropical forests. Thus, the effects of logging on species diversity and composition across tropical and temperate communities remains unclear.

Differences in habitat specialization and other traits may also determine which groups of species respond most strongly to logging. Logging generally removes upper forest strata (i.e. canopy trees) and allows more light to reach the forest floor, encouraging understorey growth. Thus, in the absence of other processes, logging might remove species that specialize in the canopy layer for breeding or foraging while adding species that specialize in lower forest strata. Yet if habitat specialization is greater for tropical species, understorey- or ground-associated guilds may experience large changes in species composition or even loss of species as primary forest specialists are replaced by secondary forest specialists. Previous work suggests that lower-strata species, and especially ground-associated species, may be more affected by logging in tropical forests (Cleary et al., 2007; Hamer et al., 2015), but the generality of these effects across latitudes remains unknown. Dietary preferences may also determine which groups of species are most impacted by logging, for example, if logging alters the relative abundance of fruits or insects in a forest. Finally, body size influences a host of life-history traits, including dispersal ability and home-range size, and might determine differential responses to logging across species (Bowman, Jaeger & Fahrig, 2002). Yet little is known about whether body size causes differential responses to logging across latitudes.

Differences among forest types at similar latitudes may also influence responses of species richness and composition to logging. For example, changes in bird species composition with changes in vegetation structure are greater in mixed conifer-deciduous forests compared to pure conifer or deciduous forests (MacArthur et al., 1966). Conifer and deciduous vegetation also differentially affect reproductive success and determine changes in bird species composition with logging in mixed conifer-deciduous forests (LaManna et al., 2015). In the mixed conifer-deciduous forests that dominate northern latitudes, early-successional seres are generally deciduous with conifers dominating the late-successional seres. Thus, given that logging can drastically alter vegetation composition in these mixed-forest types, then logging might also have greater effects on the species composition of birds and other animals that breed within these forests versus logging in pure conifer or deciduous forests.

Responses of animal species richness and composition to logging across latitudes may be confounded by changes in regional species richness and the spatial scale of logging. Local species richness and composition are products of historical processes that influence regional richness (MacArthur & Wilson, 1963; Ricklefs, 2008; Kraft et al., 2011). Regional richness decreases with latitude (Pianka, 1966b; MacArthur, 1972), meaning that smaller changes in species composition with logging are expected as latitude increases due to fewer species in the regional pool alone. The spatial scale at which logging effects are examined can also influence the response of animal communities to logging, most likely reflecting scale-dependent effects of habitat disturbance on habitat heterogeneity (Hill & Hamer, 2004). Thus, a comparison of the effects of logging on species richness and composition across latitudes and forest types is needed that takes into consideration differences in regional richness and spatial scale.

We conducted a meta-analysis to compare the influence of logging on local avian species richness and composition within and across latitudes. Responses of bird species to logging have been documented in numerous individual studies, and provide an excellent system with which to examine logging effects on diversity across tropical and temperate latitudes. We also tested if logging impacts on species richness and composition differed among guilds that prefer to nest or forage in distinct vegetation layers, or among guilds defined by dietary preference and body mass. Because the majority of studies were from north-temperate latitudes, we also tested if bird species richness and composition changed more in mixed north-temperate forest types (i.e. conifer-deciduous mixed forests) compared to pure (i.e. conifer or deciduous only) forest types. A deeper understanding of the factors that explain differential logging impacts on avian communities both within and across latitudes is needed to conserve biodiversity in an era of unprecedented global change.

II. METHODS

(1) Literature search and data collection

We systematically searched for studies published within the past 60 years (1955-2015) examining the response of bird communities to logging. We looked for suitable peer-reviewed papers using the terms 'birds' and 'logging' on the ISI Web of Science online bibliographic database (accessed September 7, 2014), and also searched references within these papers. Limiting our search to published material potentially introduced a bias (Møller & Jennions, 2001) but also provided a level of quality control (Gray et al., 2007). We included experiments that compared avian species composition before and after logging as well as observational studies that compared recently logged forests to nearby undisturbed controls. Studies were included only if logging was the sole difference between treatment and control sites and forests were allowed to regrow following logging (i.e. we did not examine burning or agricultural effects). Many different forms of logging exist (e.g. clearcut, shelter-wood, selective, etc.), and these practices differ primarily in the amount of basal area removed/retained on the landscape. Thus, measurements of proportion of timber basal area retained on the landscape following logging (hereafter basal area retention) were used to control for variable logging intensities across studies. Regrowth since logging occurred is also likely to influence diversity responses to logging. Thus, the number of years of successional regrowth since logging occurred (hereafter years since logging) was used to control for variable ages of logging treatments. Because these two factors (basal area retention and years since logging occurred) are expected drastically to influence responses of diversity to logging, we limited our meta-analysis to studies that provided these measurements. We further limited our search to studies that surveyed bird communities within core logged areas to avoid the confounding influence of edge effects. We also had to limit our meta-analysis to studies that provided either a measure of species turnover (β -diversity) or

complete species lists from unlogged and logged treatments from which β -diversity could be calculated (see below).

We defined regional species richness (γ -diversity) as all bird species detected in unlogged and logged forests. Local site richness (α -diversity) was defined as the identities of bird species in either unlogged or logged forest, respectively. We then calculated the per cent change in species richness following logging as ($S_{\text{logged}} - S_{\text{unlogged}}$)/ S_{unlogged} , where S_{logged} is the number of species in the logged community and S_{unlogged} is the number of species in the unlogged community. Thus, positive values indicate a net gain of species following logging and negative values indicate a net loss of species.

We measured the change in species composition in response to logging with two β -diversity metrics: (i) the Jaccard dissimilarity index (β_{I}), and (*ii*) the Bray–Curtis dissimilarity index (β_{BC}). β_{I} measures the loss and gain of species because it only incorporates information about species presence and absence in either habitat. β_{BC} measures changes in the identity and relative abundance of species in multivariate space. These two metrics are recommended for examining differences in species composition among two or more sites (Anderson et al., 2011; Kraft et al., 2011; Myers et al., 2013), and both were calculated using the 'vegan' package in R (Oksanen et al., 2015). Both metrics range from 0 to 1, with higher values of either β -diversity metric representing greater change in species composition between logged and unlogged communities. Moreover, comparing these two measures provides additional information about logging effects on avian communities (Anderson *et al.*, 2011). For example, logging in a given region may result in a high value (near 1) for β_{BC} but a relatively low value (near zero) for β_{I} . This pattern indicates that species are not lost or gained after logging, but indicates that logging strongly alters their relative abundances. However, because β_{BC} requires abundance data and β_{I} does not, we could only calculate β_{BC} for a subset (66%) of studies.

For those studies that provided abundance data, we also used null-models to calculate the change in species composition between logged and unlogged communities not explained by differences in regional species pools among latitudes (Kraft et al., 2011; Myers et al., 2013). All individuals encountered in logged and unlogged forest were randomly distributed among logging treatments (i.e. logged or unlogged), while preserving the total number of individuals in each treatment (Kraft et al., 2011; Myers et al., 2013). Thus, these null assemblages were only the product of stochastic assembly from the species pool, and all other mechanisms that might cause additional clumping (e.g. habitat specialization, local interactions among species, dispersal limitation) were removed. The pairwise dissimilarities of these simulated communities (β_{SIM}) were then compared to the observed dissimilarities (β_{BC}) relative to the standard deviation of β_{SIM} (σ_{SIM}) after 1000 iterations, and a standardized effect size of the difference was calculated as: $\beta_{\text{SES}} = (\beta_{\text{BC}} - \beta_{\text{SIM}}) / \sigma_{\text{SIM}}$. Therefore, β_{SES} represents the β -diversity that remains unexplained by stochastic assembly from the regional species pool (Kraft et al., 2011).

We recorded latitude and longitude of each study, and classified studies as tropical if they were above the tropic of Capricorn and below the tropic of Cancer. All other studies were classified as north or south temperate (including logging studies from boreal forests). This distinction was used to test for non-linear differences among tropical and temperate communities (e.g. habitat specialization) not linearly associated with latitude. Sample size (number of point counts, replicate plots, etc.) and spatial extent of each replicate sample (ha) were also recorded for each study. Because some studies used point counts (larger sample sizes, but relatively small spatial extent per sample) and others used territory-mapping techniques (smaller sample sizes, but relatively large spatial extent per sample), sample size and spatial extent per sample needed to be multiplied to calculate the total spatial extent of each study. We considered this measure of total spatial extent as the most appropriate way to compare studies that differ drastically in the spatial extent of each replicate sample. We also recorded the study method used for surveying birds (point-count, transect, spot-mapping, and mist-netting).

Bird species were classified into guilds based on the vegetation layer (or forest strata) in which they prefer to nest (cavity, canopy, understorey/shrub, or ground) and forage (aerial, canopy, understorey/shrub, or ground), based on their dietary preferences (frugivore, granivore, insectivore, nectarivore, or omnivore), and based on their body size using the Handbook of the Birds of the World (Del Hoyo et al., 2014) and Cornell's Birds of North America (Poole, 2005). Accounts of all species from our selected studies were found in one of these two resources. We classified species into one of four body-mass guilds based on the median and first and third quartiles of body mass among species: (i) species in the lower 25th percentile of body mass (<11.3 g); (*ii*) species in the 25-50th percentile of body mass (11.3-22.7 g); (*iii*) species in the 50–75th percentile of body mass (22.7-57.9 g); and (*iv*) species with body masses greater than the 75th percentile (>57.9 g).

(2) Statistical analyses

We used linear models to examine responses of avian species richness and composition to logging. If a given study examined multiple unique logging treatments (e.g. clearcut, 25, and 50% retention), then each treatment was included as a sample in our meta-analysis provided that each treatment was compared to control (undisturbed) forest. Instead of including a random effect of study (i.e. study site) to group logging treatments in our analyses, we included the relevant continuous variables of interest that differed among study sites: latitude and longitude. Specifically, we were interested in different responses of diversity to logging across latitudes. Because 75% of studies presented results from only one or two logging treatments, a random effect of study site is nearly perfectly correlated with latitude and therefore inappropriate to include in a model testing for a latitude effect (Clark & Linzer, 2015). Including latitude in all of our models appropriately groups studies by the relevant variable of theoretical interest, and no additional random effect of study site was necessary. However, logging treatments from the same study site may be spatially auto-correlated. Thus, we tested for any spatial auto-correlation in our data set using Mantel's test ('mantel.rtest' function from R package 'ade4;' (Dray & Dufour, 2007).

We began by verifying our measure of γ -diversity by testing for the familiar pattern of decreasing diversity with the absolute value of latitude (hereafter absolute latitude). This measure of γ -diversity may be confounded with sample effort, but total spatial extent only explained <10% of variation in γ -diversity across studies ($r^2 = 0.099, P = 0.001$). We then examined factors influencing the change in local species richness or composition (i.e. β_{I} , β_{BC} , and β_{SES}) following logging with a linear model that included a categorical variable indicating tropical or temperate forest (hereafter called latitudinal zone; tropical forests were defined as being at or below the Tropics of Capricorn or Cancer), absolute latitude (the absolute value of latitude), basal area retention, years since logging, γ -diversity, and interactions between latitudinal zone and absolute latitude, basal area retention, and years since logging. Clearcut harvests removed >90% of tree basal area, but generally removed all standing trees. Thus, this logging technique may have drastically different effects on vegetation and animal communities compared to selective harvest (removal of <90% basal area). Moreover, clearcut harvests were only prevalent in the temperate zone. Thus, we split temperate logging into clearcut and selective harvest but kept basal area retention in the model to account for substantial variation in retention among selective harvests. Finally, before implementing each model for species richness or composition, we tested for simple correlations between total spatial extent and the change in species richness or composition (Hill & Hamer, 2004). If a relationship was detected, we incorporated total spatial extent directly into the model. If a relationship was absent, we weighted each study by their total spatial extent in order to favour those studies with greater sampling effort and precision. Variables were log-transformed if their distributions were heavily right-skewed. We then sequentially removed insignificant (P > 0.05) interactions from this full model to arrive at a more parsimonious model. We also performed funnel plots, which test for a significant correlation between model residuals and sampling effort, to assess publication bias (Egger et al., 1997). If bias is present, model residuals will be significantly correlated with sampling effort. If bias is absent, model residuals should converge to zero for those studies with the greatest sampling effort, forming a funnel shape. We also used a likelihood-ratio test to assess the effect of avian study method (i.e. point-count, transect, mist-netting, or spot-mapping), but study method did not influence our models for species richness ($\chi^2 = 3.6, P = 0.31$), $\beta_J (\chi^2 = 1.8, P = 0.62)$, or $\beta_{BC} (\chi^2 = 4.0, P = 0.26)$. We also tested for differential impacts of logging on species

We also tested for differential impacts of logging on species richness or composition of guilds that nest or forage in different forest strata, have different dietary preferences, or have different body mass. We used identical approaches to



Fig. 1. Map showing locations of 119 logged–unlogged paired replicates from 62 published studies across the globe used in meta-analyses. Locations are shown with a point; a circle around that point indicates relative sample size and spatial extent of the study. Boundaries of the tropics (Tropics of Capricorn and Cancer) are shown by dashed lines. Numbers indicate the count of replicates within a continent and latitudinal zone (i.e. north-temperate America = 59; tropical America = 20; south-temperate America = 5; north-temperate Eurasia = 2; tropical Africa = 4; tropical Asia = 14; and south-temperate Australia = 15).

those above with an added fixed factor of guild and an interaction between guild and latitudinal-zone/logging-type (i.e. tropical selective harvest, temperate selective harvest, temperate clearcut harvest). Again, a random effect of study site was unnecessary because logging treatments were already grouped by location (i.e. latitude and longitude).

We then tested if the impacts of logging on local avian species richness or composition differed among north-temperate forest types (i.e. pure deciduous or conifer forest *versus* mixed conifer-deciduous forest). Identical approaches to those described above were used to test for a difference in species richness and composition across pure and mixed forest types. We also tested for interactions of forest type with logging type (clearcut *versus* selective harvest), basal area retention and years since logging to evaluate if forest type influenced diversity responses to logging. All analyses were performed using program R (R Core Development Team, 2014).

III. RESULTS

(1) Data description

Sixty-two studies matched our search criteria (Fig. 1, see online Supporting Information, Table S1). Unfortunately, Africa and temperate Eurasia were under-represented in our analyses because most studies in these regions focused solely on richness and few published the necessary data to calculate changes in species composition. Thirty-three of the 62 studies examined multiple logging treatments, resulting in 119 control-treatment replicates for our meta-analysis. These studies spanned a wide range of logging intensities (0.0-93.0% basal area retention; mean \pm S.D. = 33.0 \pm 27.8%) and years since logging $(1.0-80.0 \text{ years}; \text{ mean} \pm \text{S.D.} = 11.9 \pm 15.2 \text{ years}).$ Thirty-three replicates were from clearcut forests (all in the temperate zone) and 86 were from selectively logged forests (38 from tropical and 48 from temperate latitudes). Most studies were published to report logging effects on species richness, and 60% of studies reported statistically insignificant effects of logging on richness. Thus, publishing bias should not be a major factor influencing the meta-analyses. Indeed, funnel plot regression tests indicated that publication bias did not influence our global models for species richness (t=0.38, P=0.71) nor either compositional measure ($\beta_{\rm I}$: $t = 1.12, P = 0.27; \beta_{BC}: t = -0.63, P = 0.54)$ (see online Supporting Information, Fig. S1). Spatial auto-correlation was not present in datasets for changes in species richness (r = -0.064, P = 0.96) or species composition (β_1 : r = 0.028, $P = 0.21; \beta_{BC}: r = 0.013, P = 0.37)$. As expected, γ -diversity $(r^2 = 0.460)$ decreased with increasing latitude (Fig. 2).

(2) Logging effects on species richness across latitudes

Effects of selective logging on bird species richness differed strongly among tropical and temperate forests and among



Fig. 2. Relationship between the absolute value of latitude (absolute latitude) and regional diversity (γ -diversity). Tropical studies are red, north temperate studies are blue, and south temperate studies are green. Larger points indicate increased total spatial extent (sample size × spatial extent per sample) of a study. The linear relationship (slope estimate \pm 95% C.I.) between regional diversity and latitude is shown in black.

harvest type in the temperate zone (Fig. 3). Logging reduced species richness across the tropics, with an average loss of 11% of species 6 years after a 50% basal-area retention harvest (Fig. 3A). Retaining less basal area increased these losses (Fig. 3B), with an average loss of 22% of species l year following low basal-area retention ($\sim 5\%$) logging in the tropics. On average, all levels of basal-area retention in the tropics resulted in loss of species (Fig. 3B). More importantly, species richness never approached pre-logging levels in tropical forests over time, with an average loss of 10.3% of species 40 years after a 50% basal-area retention harvest (Table 1). In contrast to selective logging in the tropics, selective logging in temperate forests did not reduce bird species richness and corresponded with slightly increased richness if at least 60% of basal area was retained (Fig. 3B). Not surprisingly, temperate clearcut logging had strong impacts on bird diversity, with an average loss of 16% of species 6 years after harvest. These losses were even greater at higher latitudes, with an average loss of 27% of species 6 years following clearcuts at or above 50° latitude (Fig. 3A). Thus, logging generally reduced species richness in the tropics. Limited disturbance via logging yielded increases in species richness in temperate forests, but clearcut logging vielded reductions in richness.

We were able to classify over 1450 bird species into guilds based on the vegetation layer (or forest strata) in which they nest or forage, dietary preferences, and body mass from 41 of the studies used above. This represented all species documented in these 41 studies. We were only able to classify species from these 41 studies because other studies failed to provide detailed species lists. Logging effects on species richness of these guilds differed across latitudes and harvest types (Fig. 4, Table 2). Logging in tropical forests generally decreased avian richness across all nesting, foraging, dietary, and body-mass guilds except for omnivores (Fig. 4). Ground-nesting, ground-foraging, and large-sized



Fig. 3. Per cent change in bird species richness $(\pm 95\%)$ CI) due to different logging types (clearcut versus selective harvests) across (A) latitudes and (B) different levels of basal area retention. Tropical selective-logging studies are in red, temperate clearcut-logging studies are in blue, and temperate selective-logging studies are in green. Tropical forests were only selectively logged, but at varying intensities. Effects of logging on bird species richness are shown at mean absolute latitudes (7° for tropics and 45° for temperate) and regional richness (96 species for tropics and 32 species for temperate) for each latitudinal zone. Years since logging was log transformed. Effects of latitude are shown at mean basal area retention for each logging type, and effects of basal area retention are shown at the mean of log-transformed years since logging (6 years). Larger points indicate increased total spatial extent (sample size \times spatial extent per sample) of a study.

(>75th percentile body mass) guilds experienced the largest declines in species richness with tropical logging (Fig. 4). By contrast, nearly all guilds had increases in species richness following selective logging in temperate latitudes, especially ground- and aerial-foraging guilds, granivores, and birds between 22.7 and 57.9 g body mass (Fig. 4). Clearcut logging in temperate latitudes resulted in a net loss of species from nearly all guilds, especially frugivores, large-sized species, and guilds that nest or forage in the canopy (Fig. 4). Therefore, habitat and dietary preferences of species determined their responses to logging. Effects of logging on species richness of guilds occupying lower vegetation layers differed starkly among latitudes, with lower-strata tropical birds decreasing in richness and lower-strata temperate birds increasing in richness following logging (Fig. 4A, B).

for each categorical variable are provided for significant interactions							
Model	Variable	d.f.	Slope	Slope C.I.	F	<i>P</i> -value	
Change in species	Years since logging	1	0.02	(-0.02, 0.06)	1.0	0.309	
richness	Basal area retention [†]	1	0.04	(-0.004, 0.09)	3.2	0.075	
$r^2 = 0.314$	Regional species pool size $(\gamma)^*$	1	0.10	(0.03,0.16)	9.3	0.003	
N = 119	Absolute latitude	1			2.1	0.151	
	Logging type*	2			11.0	< 0.001	
	Tropics selective harvesting*		-0.12	(-0.17, -0.06)			
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		-0.17	(-0.24, -0.10)			

2

0.03

0.04

-0.44

0.01

(-0.04, 0.10)

(-0.13, 0.20)

(-0.68, -0.20)

(-0.18, 0.19)

Temperate selective harvesting

Temperate clearcut harvesting*

Temperate selective harvesting

Absolute latitude \times logging type^{*} Tropics selective harvesting

Table 1. Model describing logging effects on avian species richness across latitudes. Degrees of freedom (d.f.), slope estimates, 95% confidence intervals (C.I.), F statistics, and P-values are presented. Overall model fit (r^2) is also shown. Slope estimates represent the change in per cent species richness per standardized unit change in the variable. Slopes for logging type are mean responses. Slopes for each categorical variable are provided for significant interactions

*Significant at P < 0.05.

[†]Marginally significant at P < 0.10.



Fig. 4. Latitudinal differences in the effect of logging on bird species richness across guilds of species that differ in (A) nest-site location, (B) forage-site location, (C) dietary preferences, and (D) body mass. Guild means (\pm 95% CI) for effects of logging on species richness were calculated at the mean absolute latitude for each latitudinal zone (7° for tropics and 45° for temperate).

0.004

5.7

Model	Variable	d.f.	Slope	Slope C.I.	F	<i>P</i> -value
Change in species	Years since logging	1	0.01	(-0.02, 0.04)	0.8	0.366
richness of	Basal area retention*	1	0.04	(0.002, 0.08)	4.2	0.041
nest-site guilds	Regional species pool size $(\gamma)^*$	1	0.07	(0.03, 0.11)	10.0	0.002
$r^2 = 0.352$	Absolute latitude*	1			4.3	0.039
$\mathcal{N} = 79$	Logging type*	2			28.2	< 0.001
	Absolute latitude × logging type*	2			8.5	< 0.001
	Tropics selective harvesting		-0.03	(-0.17, 0.10)		
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		-0.38	(-0.54, -0.21)		
	Temperate selective harvesting		0.07	(-0.07, 0.20)		
	Nest-site guild	3			1.6	0.184
	Nest-site guild \times logging type*	6			3.6	0.002
Change in species	Years since logging	1	0.02	(-0.02, 0.05)	0.7	0.390
richness of	Basal area retention*	1	0.05	(0.01, 0.10)	5.0	0.027
forage-site guilds	Regional species pool size (γ)	1	0.03	(-0.03, 0.08)	1.1	0.300
$r^2 = 0.255$	Absolute latitude	1			1.8	0.184
$\mathcal{N} = 79$	Logging type*	2			17.9	< 0.001
	Absolute latitude \times logging type [†]	2			2.9	0.056
	Tropics selective harvesting		-0.02	(-0.18, 0.13)		
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		-0.25	(-0.44, -0.07)		
	Temperate selective harvesting		0.04	(-0.12, 0.19)		
	Forage-site guild*	3			2.8	0.042
	Forage-site guild \times logging type [*]	6			2.3	0.038
Change in species	Years since $\log ging^{\dagger}$	1	0.04	(0.001, 0.08)	3.6	0.059
richness of	Basal area retention	1	0.03	(-0.02, 0.09)	1.4	0.240
dietary guilds	Regional species pool size (γ)	1	0.03	(-0.06, 0.11)	0.3	0.568
$r^2 = 0.235$	Absolute latitude	1			1.0	0.309
$\mathcal{N} = 79$	Logging type*	2			6.9	0.001
	Absolute latitude \times logging type [*]	2			5.9	0.003
	Tropics selective harvesting		0.11	(-0.05, 0.26)		
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		-0.41	(-0.66, -0.16)		
	Temperate selective harvesting		-0.06	(-0.26, 0.14)		
	Dietary guild	4			1.9	0.116
	Dietary guild \times logging type [*]	7			3.1	0.004
Change in species	Years since logging	1	0.02	(-0.01, 0.05)	1.4	0.245
richness of	Basal area retention ^{\dagger}	1	0.04	(-0.002, 0.09)	3.5	0.063
body-mass guilds	Regional species pool size $(\gamma)^*$	1	0.06	(0.02,0.10)	7.3	0.007
$r^2 = 0.321$	Absolute latitude [*]	1			4.4	0.037
$\mathcal{N} = 79$	Logging type*	2			23.8	< 0.001
	Absolute latitude \times logging type [*]	2			11.5	< 0.001
	Tropics selective harvesting		0.03	(-0.11, 0.17)		
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		-0.46	(-0.64, -0.29)		
	Temperate selective harvesting		0.03	(-0.12, 0.18)		
	Body-mass guild*	3			4.6	0.004
	Body-mass guild \times logging type*	6			3.8	0.001

Table 2. Model describing logging effects on avian species richness of nest-site, forage-site, dietary, and body-mass guilds across latitudes. See Table 1 for description of parameters. Slopes for each categorical variable are provided for significant interactions

*Significant at P < 0.05.

[†]Marginally significant at P < 0.10.

(3) Logging effects on species composition across latitudes

The effect of logging on bird species composition also differed across latitudes and harvest types (Fig. 5, Table 3). β_J , which measures the loss and gain of species following logging, was nearly constant across tropical latitudes, dropped steeply at lower temperate latitudes, and then increased again at higher temperate latitudes (Fig. 5A). Thus, β_J was roughly constant following selective harvests in tropical and temperate latitudes except between 30° and 40° latitude. This pattern

indicates that relatively fewer species were lost or gained following logging in lower-temperate latitudes compared with either tropical or higher-latitude temperate logging. Temperate clearcut harvests showed steeper increases in $\beta_{\rm J}$ with latitude than temperate selective harvests (Fig. 5A), corresponding with substantial loss of species following clearcut logging at higher latitudes (Fig. 3A).

By contrast, β_{BC} (which measures changes in species relative abundances) was approximately constant across latitudes following selective logging in tropical and temperate



Fig. 5. Effects of logging on bird species composition measured by (A) the loss and gain of species ($\beta_{\rm J}$) and (B) the change in species relative abundances ($\beta_{\rm BC}$) across latitudes. Tropical selective-logging studies are in red, temperate clearcut-logging studies are in blue, and temperate selective-logging studies are in green. Larger points indicate increased total spatial extent (sample size × spatial extent per sample) of a study. Linear relationships (slope estimate $\pm 95\%$ CI) between the change in species composition and latitude for each logging type in each latitudinal zone are also shown.

forests (Fig. 5B). This indicates that while few species were lost or gained following selective logging in lower-latitude temperate forests, the change in the relative abundances of these species was similar to that in tropical and higher-latitude regions. β_{BC} changed more dramatically following temperate clearcut harvests (Fig. 5B, Table 3). The change in bird species composition following temperate clearcut logging tended to converge with the change in bird species composition following temperate and tropical selective logging after roughly 30 years of forest regrowth (Fig. 6, Table 3). Nonetheless, species composition was still distinct from unlogged forests (i.e. $\beta_{BC} > 0$) even 80–90 years after logging (Fig. 6). Analyses of β_{SES} , which represents changes in species composition that remain unexplained by stochastic assembly from the regional species pool, revealed quantitatively similar patterns as analyses of β_{BC} (Table 3) and were positively correlated with β_{BC} (r = 0.60, P < 0.001). Thus, observed patterns in the change in species composition following logging across latitudes did not appear to be driven by differences in regional species pools across latitudes.

Effects of logging on species composition, especially β_{BC} , were strong but less variable among nest-site, forage-site, dietary, and body-mass guilds than effects of logging on species richness of these guilds (Fig. 7, Tables 4 and 5). Selective logging appeared disproportionately to alter the species composition of tropical canopy-nesting species, tropical ground-foraging species, tropical granivores, and tropical large-bodied species more than other guilds at any latitude (Fig. 7). Temperate clearcut harvesting had substantial impacts on avian species composition across guilds, but especially on cavity- and canopy-nesting species, canopy- and aerial-foraging species, frugivores, insectivores, and large-bodied species (Fig. 7). Thus, despite differential effects of logging on species richness across latitudes and guilds, the composition of bird species in all guilds changed substantially following logging at all latitudes.

(4) Logging effects differ among north-temperate forest types

Effects of logging on avian species richness and composition varied substantially among pure and mixed north-temperate forest types (Fig. 8). Logging in either pure conifer or deciduous forests types tended to reduce bird species richness on average, but logging in mixed conifer-deciduous forests resulted in no net change in species richness (Fig. 8A). Furthermore, forest type appeared to explain the decline in $\beta_{\rm I}$ at lower north-temperate latitudes. Logging caused more loss/gain of species ($\beta_{\rm I}$) in higher-latitude north-temperate forests than in lower-latitude north-temperate forests (Fig. 5A). However, variation in $\beta_{\rm I}$ was better explained by forest type than by latitude in the north-temperate zone (Table 6, Figs 5 and 8B), suggesting that greater changes in species identities following logging at higher latitudes may be associated with the general transition from pure deciduous or conifer forest to mixed conifer-deciduous forest. However, the change in species relative abundances following logging (β_{BC}) did not differ among pure and mixed north-temperate forest types (Fig. 8C), indicating that pre- and post-logging communities in lower north-temperate latitudes had similar species but differed in the relative abundances of those species. Thus, the observed pattern of increasing β_{I} but constant β_{BC} across temperate latitudes may be caused by geographic shifts in the abundances of conifer and deciduous trees.

IV. DISCUSSION

Logging in tropical *versus* temperate latitudes had notably different effects on species richness and composition. Logging in tropical forests caused substantial loss of avian species (up to 22% of species). Another recent review of tropical logging studies found that the richness of mammals, amphibians, and invertebrate species also decreased with tropical logging (Burivalova *et al.*, 2014). However, we found that avian richness was largely unaffected by selective logging in northand south-temperate forests (Fig. 3). Previous reviews have focused primarily on logging impacts to animal species richness and diversity at either temperate (Vanderwel *et al.*, 2007) or tropical latitudes (Gray *et al.*, 2007; Burivalova

Table 3. Models describing logging effects on avian species composition across latitudes. Model predicting changes in the identities of species (based on presence–absence data, or β_{J}) and changes in the identities and relative abundances of species (based on abundance data, or β_{BC}) following logging are shown. See Table 1 for description of parameters. Logging effects on species composition after correcting for expected differences in species composition due to changes in species pools across latitudes (β_{SES}) are also shown (see text for further details)

Model	Variable	d.f.	Slope	Slope C.I.	F	<i>P</i> -value
Change in species	Years since logging	1	-0.02	(-0.05, 0.01)	1.3	0.249
composition $(\boldsymbol{\beta}_{J})$	Basal area retention	1	-0.01	(-0.05, 0.03)	0.1	0.768
$r^2 = 0.408$	Regional species pool size $(\gamma)^{\dagger}$	1	-0.04	(-0.08, 0.002)	3.5	0.064
N = 119	Absolute latitude*	1			34.8	< 0.001
	Total spatial extent [†]	1	-0.03	(-0.06, 0.003)	3.2	0.078
	Logging type*	2			23.2	< 0.001
	Tropics selective harvesting*		0.38	(0.33, 0.42)		
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		0.47	(0.42, 0.52)		
	Temperate selective harvesting*		0.32	(0.28, 0.37)		
	Absolute latitude \times logging type [*]	2			6.2	0.003
	Tropics selective harvesting		0.05	(-0.09, 0.20)		
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		0.42	(0.28,0.57)		
	Temperate selective harvesting*		0.22	(0.11, 0.34)		
Change in species	Years since logging*	1			9.8	0.003
composition (β_{BC})	Basal area retention	1	-0.02	(-0.08, 0.04)	0.5	0.468
$r^2 = 0.440$	Regional species pool size (γ)	1	-0.03	(-0.09, 0.03)	0.8	0.368
$\mathcal{N} = 74$	Absolute latitude	1	0.10	(-0.02, 0.21)	2.8	0.102
	Total spatial extent	1	-0.03	(-0.07, 0.02)	1.4	0.236
	Logging type*	2		_	4.8	0.011
	Tropics selective harvesting*		0.36	(0.28, 0.44)		
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		0.61	(0.53, 0.68)		
	Temperate selective harvesting*		0.39	(0.33, 0.45)		
	Years since logging × logging type*	2			5.2	0.008
	Tropics selective harvesting		-0.003	(-0.08, 0.07)		
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		-0.16	(-0.24, -0.09)		
	Temperate selective harvesting*		-0.04	(-0.10, 0.02)		
Change in species	Years since logging*	1	-0.10	(-0.16, -0.04)	9.5	0.003
composition	Basal area retention	1	-0.06	(-0.14, 0.03)	1.8	0.187
$(\boldsymbol{\beta}_{\text{SES}})$	Absolute latitude †	1	0.16	(-0.02, 0.35)	3.0	0.087
$r^2 = 0.329$	Logging type*	2			9.3	< 0.001
$\mathcal{N} = 74$	Tropics selective harvesting*		14.1	(10.6, 18.7)		
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		29.0	(21.3, 39.4)		
	Temperate selective harvesting*		11.1	(8.5, 14.4)		

*Significant at P < 0.05.

[†]Marginally significant at P < 0.10.

et al., 2014). Yet changes in species richness cannot capture changes in the identities or relative abundances of species. Changes in species identities were relatively small in south-temperate forests and lower-latitude north-temperate forests, where logging also had little influence on net species richness. The presence of mostly similar species in logged and unlogged forests indicates that bird species in these forests are likely habitat generalists. However, the relative abundances of these species changed with logging as much as the relative abundances of species in forests at other latitudes (Fig. 5). This pattern suggests that while most species are able to occupy both logged and unlogged lower-latitude temperate forests, many species achieve higher abundance and likely have higher fitness in one habitat over the other (Fretwell & Lucas, 1970). By contrast, selective logging caused substantial changes in the identities and relative abundances of bird species in north-temperate mixed conifer-deciduous forests despite having little to no effect on net species richness. This result indicates that a roughly equivalent number of species specialize in either earlier- or later-successional habitat in higher-latitude temperate forests and that these species replace each other to yield stable richness. A historic regime of large-scale, high-intensity wildfires in north-temperate forests, especially in boreal forests, might account for the large number of early-successional specialist species in these forests (Johnson, Miyanishi & Bridge, 2001). Overall, tropical logging appeared generally to reduce animal species richness, while selective logging in temperate latitudes had greater effects on species composition than on species richness.

Changes in species identities (β_J) with logging were greater in tropical forests, where logging also caused substantial reductions in richness (Figs 3 and 5). The reduction in tropical bird-species richness reflected that many bird species using older forests disappeared following logging



Fig. 6. Effects of logging on bird species composition measured by the change in species relative abundances (β_{BC}) as a function of the number of years since logging occurred. Temperate clearcut-logging studies are in blue and temperate selective-logging studies are in green. Larger points indicate increased total spatial extent (sample size × spatial extent per sample) of a study. Linear relationships (slope estimate \pm 95% CI) between the change in species composition and years since logging for each logging type are also shown. Years since logging is on a log scale.

and is consistent with a coarser-scale analysis showing that abundances of tropical mammal and bird habitat-specialist species are most dependent on primary forests (Newbold et al., 2014). These results suggest substantial specialization in late-successional habitat among tropical species and support similar results from local-scale tropical studies (Salisbury et al., 2012; Edwards et al., 2013). Yet these results contrast with the idea that habitat specialization is equivalent among tropical and temperate species (Novotny et al., 2006). The variable responses of species richness and composition to logging support long-standing speculation (MacArthur et al., 1966; Karr & Roth, 1971; MacArthur, 1972) that the numbers of habitat specialists and generalists differ between tropical and temperate forests. Moreover, the latitudinal patterns detected here (Figs 3 and 5) suggest that tropical species predominantly specialize in late-successional habitats, that lower-latitude temperate species can generally occupy both early- and late-successional habitats, and that a roughly equivalent number of higher-latitude temperate species specialize in either early- or late-successional habitats. Thus, results from this meta-analysis are consistent with the idea that strong habitat specialization, especially specialization in late-successional habitat types, leads to substantial loss of animal species following logging in the tropics.

Increased animal species richness with increased vegetation structure has been associated with the addition of species that prefer to nest or forage in higher vegetation layers (MacArthur *et al.*, 1966; Willson, 1974; Martin, 1988). Thus, we expected logging to remove species that forage or

breed in the canopy and possibly add species that forage or breed in lower vegetation layers because of post-logging successional regrowth. Temperate selective logging most closely resembled this expected pattern, having no net effect on richness of canopy species and adding species to nearly all other forest strata (Fig. 4A, B). Temperate clearcut logging removed species from nearly all forest strata, especially from the canopy (Fig. 4A, B). Tropical logging also caused a loss of species that forage in the canopy, but caused an equal or greater loss of species that forage in lower forest strata (Fig. 4A, B). In particular, the net loss of tropical species that nest on the ground was greater than the loss of species in any other strata following selective logging (Figs 4 and 7). This result supports the idea that ground-dwelling tropical species are more strongly impacted by logging than species occupying other forest strata (Cleary et al., 2007; Hamer et al., 2015). Thus, steep declines in tropical species diversity with logging appear to result from a loss of species occupying all forest strata, but especially ground-nesting species. By contrast, selective logging in temperate forests appears to add species occupying lower forest strata. Such differential effects of logging across species that prefer to nest and forage in distinct forest strata, as well as across species with different dietary preferences, also support the idea that habitat specialization can determine changes in diversity following anthropogenic disturbances such as logging.

While we focused on patterns in species richness and composition across logged and unlogged forests, logging effects on demographic rates may be an important but understudied impact of logging on animal populations. Occupation of a habitat does not necessarily mean that population growth rates in that habitat are sustainable $(\lambda > 1.0)$. Specifically, some species that occupy logged habitats may have poor demographic performance (reduced survival or reproductive success) relative to conspecifics in unlogged habitats (Fretwell & Lucas, 1970; Pulliam, 2000). Yet the number of studies that have examined logging effects on animal species survival or reproduction is much lower than the number of studies examining logging effects on animal diversity or community composition. We therefore recognize the need for more studies that go beyond effects on species diversity and examine the fitness impacts of logging and other changes in vegetation structure on animals that occupy logged forests.

We searched thoroughly for papers studying the effects of logging on avian communities across the globe. While all of the western hemisphere, tropical Asia, and Australia were well represented in our meta-analysis, Africa and temperate Eurasia were unfortunately underrepresented in our meta-analysis (Fig. 1). Two reasons might account for Africa and temperate Eurasia being poorly represented here. First, our search was restricted to papers that were published or have been translated into English, and this might limit the number of studies from Russia or China. Second, most studies from Africa and temperate Eurasia focused solely on richness and few published species lists from logged and unlogged forests, which were required to calculate changes in species



Fig. 7. Latitudinal differences in the effect of logging on bird species composition measured by the loss and gain of species (β_J) and the change in species relative abundances (β_{BC}) across guilds of species that differ in (A) nest-site location, (B) forage-site location, (C) dietary preferences, and (D) body mass. Guild means ($\pm 95\%$ CI) for effects of logging on species richness were calculated at the mean absolute latitude for each latitudinal zone (7° for tropics and 45° for temperate).

composition. Thus, we encourage future studies of land-use effects to publish full species lists and as much of the original data whenever possible. Also, we must emphasize that the scope of inference of this meta-analysis, while covering most of the inhabited world (Fig. 1), may not necessarily apply to Africa or temperate Eurasia.

This meta-analysis highlights the role of habitat specialization and preferences in determining effects of

Table 4. Models describing logging effects on avian species composition of nest-site, forage-site, dietary, and body-mass guilds across latitudes. Model predicting changes in the identities of species (based on presence–absence data, or β_{J}) following logging are shown. See Table 1 for description of parameters

Model	Variable	d.f.	Slope	Slope C.I.	F	<i>P</i> -value
Change in species	Years since logging*	1	-0.03	(-0.05, -0.004)	5.2	0.023
composition $(\boldsymbol{\beta}_{J})$	Basal area retention	1	-0.02	(-0.05, 0.02)	0.8	0.385
of nest-site guilds	Regional species pool size (γ)	1	0.00	(-0.03, 0.03)	0.0	0.984
$r^2 = 0.275$	Absolute latitude*	1			14.5	< 0.001
$\mathcal{N} = 79$	Total spatial extent*	1	-0.06	(-0.09, -0.03)	19.4	< 0.001
	Logging type*	2			17.9	< 0.001
	Absolute latitude \times logging type [*]	2			7.4	0.001
	Tropics selective harvesting		0.05	(-0.06, 0.17)		
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		0.34	(0.21, 0.46)		
	Temperate selective harvesting		0.05	(-0.05, 0.15)		
	Nest-site guild	3			0.8	0.496
	Nest-site guild \times logging type [*]	6			2.2	0.040
Change in species	Years since logging*	1	-0.04	(-0.06, -0.01)	7.6	0.006
composition (β_{I})	Basal area retention	1	-0.02	(-0.06, 0.02)	0.8	0.361
of forage-site	Regional species pool size (γ)	1	-0.01	(-0.05, 0.03)	0.5	0.492
guilds	Absolute latitude [*]	1			13.0	< 0.001
$r^2 = 0.303$	Total spatial extent*	1	-0.07	(-0.09, -0.04)	20.9	< 0.001
$\mathcal{N} = 79$	Logging type*	2			17.6	< 0.001
	Absolute latitude \times logging type [*]	2			6.0	0.003
	Tropics selective harvesting		0.02	(-0.10, 0.14)		
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		0.32	(0.19, 0.45)		
	Temperate selective harvesting		0.08	(-0.02, 0.19)		
	Forage-site guild	3			0.9	0.427
	Forage-site guild \times logging type [*]	6			2.7	0.013
Change in species	Years since logging	1	-0.01	(-0.04, 0.02)	0.4	0.512
composition (β_{I})	Basal area retention	1	-0.03	(-0.07, 0.02)	1.5	0.221
of dietary guilds	Regional species pool size $(\gamma)^*$	1	-0.06	(-0.12, -0.01)	4.8	0.030
$r^2 = 0.300$	Absolute latitude*	1			10.2	0.002
N = 79	Total spatial extent*	1	-0.05	(-0.08, -0.02)	11.3	0.001
	Logging type*	2			14.9	< 0.001
	Absolute latitude \times logging type	2			1.5	0.230
	Tropics selective harvesting	_	0.08	(-0.03.0.19)		
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		0.24	(0.08.0.40)		
	Temperate selective harvesting		0.09	(-0.03.0.21)		
	Dietary guild*	4			5.9	< 0.001
	Dietary guild × logging type*	7			3.3	0.002
Change in species	Years since logging	1	-0.01	(-0.04, 0.01)	1.2	0.267
composition (β_1)	Basal area retention	1	-0.01	(-0.04, 0.03)	0.1	0.716
of body-mass	Regional species pool size (γ)	1	-0.02	(-0.04, 0.01)	1.1	0.294
guilds	Absolute latitude*	1			13.9	< 0.001
$r^2 = 0.319$	Total spatial extent*	1	-0.07	(-0.10, -0.05)	28.5	< 0.001
N = 79	Logging type*	2		(0.10, 0.00)	19.1	< 0.001
	Absolute latitude x logging type*	2			9.0	< 0.001
	Tropics selective harvesting		0.03	(-0.08014)		
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		0.35	(0.22, 0.47)		
	Temperate selective harvesting		0.05	(-0.05.0.15)		
	Body-mass guild*	3			54	0.001
	Body-mass guild × logging type	6			1.5	0.179
		~			1.0	

*Significant at P < 0.05.

[†]Marginally significant at P < 0.10.

logging on animal species richness and composition across latitudes and forest types. Such preferences should have evolved due to the reliability of certain vegetation types or structures as indicators of successful reproductive or foraging outcomes (Fretwell & Lucas, 1970; Pulliam, 2000). Yet logging followed by agricultural development, livestock grazing, or other human activities often decouples once-reliable habitat cues from the actual reproductive or survival consequences of settling in such degraded habitats (Schlaepfer, Runge & Sherman, 2002; Gibbs *et al.*, 2010; Chalfoun & Schmidt, 2012). Our meta-analysis was restricted to logging practices that allowed forests

	Model	Variable	d.f.	Slope	Slope C.I.	F	<i>P</i> -value
$\begin{array}{c} \mbosition (\beta_{BC}) \\ \mbox{of nest-site guilds} \\ \mbox{of nest-site guilds} \\ \mbox{N=74} \\ \mbox{N=74} \\ \mbox{N=74} \\ \mbox{N=74} \\ \mbox{Total spatial extent}^* \\ \mbox{I} = 0.03 \\ \mbox{(-0.06,0.00)} \\ \mbox{N=74} \\ \mbox{I} = 0.02 \\ \mbox{(-0.06,0.00)} \\ \mbox{I} = 0.02 \\$	Change in species	Years since logging*	1			39.1	< 0.001
	composition (β_{BC})	Basal area retention	1	-0.03	(-0.06, 0.01)	2.2	0.138
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	of nest-site guilds	Regional species pool size $(\gamma)^{\dagger}$	1	-0.03	(-0.06, 0.003)	3.1	0.082
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$r^2 = 0.360$	Absolute latitude*	1	0.09	(0.03,0.16)	7.8	0.006
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\mathcal{N} = 74$	Total spatial extent*	1	-0.02	(-0.04, 0.01)	2.0	0.156
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Logging type*	2			16.1	< 0.001
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Years since logging \times logging type [*]	2			9.6	< 0.001
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Tropics selective harvesting		-0.02	(-0.06, 0.02)		
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Temperate clearcut harvesting*		-0.15	(-0.19, -0.11)		
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Temperate selective harvesting*		-0.06	(-0.10, -0.02)		
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Nest-site guild	3			0.9	0.434
		Nest-site guild \times logging type	6			1.6	0.155
$\begin{array}{c} \mbox{composition} (\pmb{\beta}_{BC}) & \mbox{Basal area reterious}^* & 1 & -0.04 & (-0.07, -0.01) & 5.1 & 0.025 \\ \mbox{of forage-site} & \mbox{Regional species pool size} (\gamma) & 1 & -0.02 & (-0.06, 0.02) & 1.0 & 0.313 \\ \mbox{guilds} & \mbox{Absolute latitude}^* & 1 & 0.12 & (0.05, 0.19) & 12.5 & -0.001 \\ \mbox{Jerror} & \mbox{Jeror} & Jerro$	Change in species	Years since logging*	1			31.1	< 0.001
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	composition (β_{BC})	Basal area retention*	1	-0.04	(-0.07, -0.01)	5.1	0.025
	of forage-site	Regional species pool size (γ)	1	-0.02	(-0.06, 0.02)	1.0	0.313
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	guilds	Absolute latitude*	1	0.12	(0.05, 0.19)	12.5	< 0.001
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$r^2 = 0.389$	Total spatial extent [†]	1	-0.02	(-0.05, 0.002)	3.2	0.076
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\mathcal{N} = 74$	Logging type*	2			15.9	< 0.001
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Years since logging \times logging type [*]	2			11.3	< 0.001
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Tropics selective harvesting		0.002	(-0.04, 0.04)		_
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Temperate clearcut harvesting*		-0.14	(-0.18, -0.10)		
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Temperate selective harvesting*		-0.07	(-0.10, -0.03)		
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Forage-site guild	3			1.7	0.167
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Forage-site guild \times logging type	6			1.0	0.427
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Change in species	Years since logging*	1			19.2	< 0.001
of dictary guildsRegional species pool size (γ) 1 -0.04 $(-0.10,0.01)$ 2.70.010 $r^2 = 0.300$ Absolute latitude*1 0.12 $(0.05,0.20)$ 11.3 <0.001 $N = 74$ Total spatial extent1 -0.01 $(-0.04,0.02)$ 0.6 0.447 Logging type*214.2 <0.001 Years since logging \times logging type*2Tropics selective harvesting- -0.01 $(-0.05,0.03)$ Temperate clearcut harvesting*- -0.01 $(-0.09,-0.002)$ Temperate selective harvesting*- -0.05 $(-0.09,-0.002)$ Dietary guild \times logging type*7-2.3 0.027 Change in speciesYears since logging*133.1 <0.001 composition (β_{BC})Basal area retention1 -0.02 $(-0.06,0.01)$ 2.0 0.160 of body-massRegional species pool size (γ)1 -0.01 $(-0.04,0.01)$ 1.0 0.316 guildsAbsolute latitude*1 0.10 $(0.040,0.17)$ 10.3 0.002 $r^2 = 0.379$ Total spatial extent*1 -0.05 $(-0.08,-0.03)$ 17.4 <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type*2 14.6 <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type*2 12.2 <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type*2- <t< td=""><td>composition (β_{BC})</td><td>Basal area retention</td><td>1</td><td>-0.03</td><td>(-0.07, 0.01)</td><td>2.1</td><td>0.145</td></t<>	composition (β_{BC})	Basal area retention	1	-0.03	(-0.07, 0.01)	2.1	0.145
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	of dietary guilds	Regional species pool size (γ)	1	-0.04	(-0.10, 0.01)	2.7	0.010
$ \begin{split} \mathcal{N} = 74 & \text{Total spatial extent} & 1 & -0.01 & (-0.04, 0.02) & 0.6 & 0.447 \\ \text{Logging type}^* & 2 & - & - & 14.2 & <0.001 \\ \text{Years since logging \times logging type}^* & 2 & - & - & 7.6 & 0.001 \\ \text{Tropics selective harvesting} & - & -0.01 & (-0.05, 0.03) & - & - \\ \text{Temperate clearcut harvesting}^* & - & -0.14 & (-0.18, -0.09) & - & - \\ \text{Temperate selective harvesting}^* & - & -0.05 & (-0.09, -0.002) & - & - \\ \text{Dietary guild} & 4 & - & - & 1.5 & 0.204 \\ \text{Dietary guild \times logging type}^* & 7 & - & - & 2.3 & 0.027 \\ \ \text{Change in species} & \text{Years since logging}^* & 1 & - & - & 33.1 & <0.001 \\ \text{of body-mass} & \text{Regional species pool size } (\gamma) & 1 & -0.01 & (-0.04, 0.01) & 1.0 & 0.316 \\ \ y^2 = 0.379 & \text{Total spatial extent}^* & 1 & -0.05 & (-0.08, -0.03) & 17.4 & <0.001 \\ \ years since logging x logging type^* & 2 & - & - & 14.6 & <0.001 \\ \ Years since logging x logging type^* & 2 & - & - & 14.6 & <0.001 \\ \ years since logging x logging type^* & 2 & - & - & 14.6 & <0.001 \\ \ years since logging x logging type^* & 2 & - & - & 14.6 & <0.001 \\ \ Years since logging x logging type^* & 2 & - & - & 12.2 & <0.001 \\ \ Tropics selective harvesting & - & -0.05 & (-0.07, 0.02) & - & - \\ \ Temperate selective harvesting^* & - & -0.015 & (-0.02, -0.11) & - & - \\ \ Temperate selective harvesting^* & - & -0.03 & (-0.07, 0.005) & - & - \\ \ Body-mass guild^{\dagger} & 3 & - & - & 2.5 & 0.058 \\ \ Body-mass guild^{\dagger} & \logging type & 6 & - & - & 1.0 & 0.453 \\ \end{array}$	$r^2 = 0.300$	Absolute latitude [*]	1	0.12	(0.05, 0.20)	11.3	< 0.001
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\mathcal{N} = 74$	Total spatial extent	1	-0.01	(-0.04, 0.02)	0.6	0.447
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Logging type*	2			14.2	< 0.001
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Years since logging \times logging type [*]	2			7.6	0.001
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Tropics selective harvesting		-0.01	(-0.05, 0.03)		
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Temperate clearcut harvesting*		-0.14	(-0.18, -0.09)		
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Temperate selective harvesting*		-0.05	(-0.09, -0.002)		
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Dietary guild	4			1.5	0.204
Change in species composition (β_{BC}) of body-mass Years since logging* 1 - - 33.1 <0.001 of body-mass Basal area retention 1 -0.02 (-0.06,0.01) 2.0 0.160 of body-mass Regional species pool size (γ) 1 -0.01 (-0.04,0.01) 1.0 0.316 guilds Absolute latitude* 1 0.10 (0.04,0.17) 10.3 0.002 $r^2 = 0.379$ Total spatial extent* 1 -0.05 (-0.08,-0.03) 17.4 <0.001		Dietary guild \times logging type*	7			2.3	0.027
composition (β_{BC}) of body-mass Basal area retention 1 -0.02 $(-0.06, 0.01)$ 2.0 0.160 of body-mass Regional species pool size (γ) 1 -0.01 $(-0.04, 0.01)$ 1.0 0.316 guilds Absolute latitude* 1 0.10 $(0.04, 0.17)$ 10.3 0.002 $r^2 = 0.379$ Total spatial extent* 1 -0.05 $(-0.08, -0.03)$ 17.4 <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type* 2 $ 12.2$ <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type* 2 $ 12.2$ <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type* 2 $ 12.2$ <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type* 2 $ 12.2$ <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type* 2 $ 12.2$ <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type* 2 $ 12.2$ <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type 0.02 $(-0.07, 0.02)$ $ -$ <t< td=""><td>Change in species</td><td>Years since logging*</td><td>1</td><td></td><td></td><td>33.1</td><td>< 0.001</td></t<>	Change in species	Years since logging*	1			33.1	< 0.001
of body-mass Regional species pool size (γ) 1 -0.01 $(-0.04, 0.01)$ 1.0 0.316 guilds Absolute latitude* 1 0.10 $(0.04, 0.17)$ 10.3 0.002 $r^2 = 0.379$ Total spatial extent* 1 -0.05 $(-0.08, -0.03)$ 17.4 <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type* 2 $ 12.2$ <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type* 2 $ 12.2$ <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type* 2 $ 12.2$ <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type* 2 $ 12.2$ <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type* 2 $ 12.2$ <0.001 Tropics selective harvesting $ -0.02$ $(-0.07, 0.02)$ $ -$ Temperate clearcut harvesting* $ -0.15$ $(-0.07, 0.005)$ $ -$ Body-mass guild^{\dagger} 3 $-$	composition (β_{BC})	Basal area retention	1	-0.02	(-0.06, 0.01)	2.0	0.160
guilds Absolute latitude* 1 0.10 $(0.04, 0.17)$ 10.3 0.002 $r^2 = 0.379$ Total spatial extent* 1 -0.05 $(-0.08, -0.03)$ 17.4 <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type* 2 — — 14.6 <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type* 2 — — 12.2 <0.001 Tropics selective harvesting — -0.02 $(-0.07, 0.02)$ — — Temperate clearcut harvesting* — -0.15 $(-0.20, -0.11)$ — — Body-mass guild† 3 — — 2.5 0.058 Body-mass guild \times logging type 6 — — 1.0 0.453	of body-mass	Regional species pool size (γ)	1	-0.01	(-0.04, 0.01)	1.0	0.316
$r^2 = 0.379$ Total spatial extent* 1 -0.05 $(-0.08, -0.03)$ 17.4 <0.001 $N = 74$ Logging type* 2 $ 14.6$ <0.001 Years since logging \times logging type* 2 $ 12.2$ <0.001 Tropics selective harvesting $ -0.02$ $(-0.07, 0.02)$ $ -$ Temperate clearcut harvesting* $ -0.15$ $(-0.07, 0.02)$ $ -$ Temperate selective harvesting* $ -0.03$ $(-0.07, 0.005)$ $ -$ Body-mass guild† 3 $ 2.5$ 0.058 Body-mass guild \times logging type 6 $ 1.0$ 0.453	guilds	Absolute latitude*	1	0.10	(0.04, 0.17)	10.3	0.002
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$r^2 = 0.379$	Total spatial extent*	1	-0.05	(-0.08, -0.03)	17.4	< 0.001
Years since logging \times logging type* 2 - - 12.2 <0.001	$\mathcal{N} = 74$	Logging type*	2			14.6	< 0.001
Tropics selective harvesting — -0.02 $(-0.07, 0.02)$ — — Temperate clearcut harvesting* — -0.15 $(-0.20, -0.11)$ — — Temperate selective harvesting† — -0.03 $(-0.07, 0.005)$ — — Body-mass guild† 3 — — 2.5 0.058 Body-mass guild × logging type 6 — — 1.0 0.453		Years since logging \times logging type [*]	2			12.2	< 0.001
Temperate clearcut harvesting* $ -0.15$ $(-0.20, -0.11)$ $ -$ Temperate selective harvesting [†] $ -0.03$ $(-0.07, 0.005)$ $ -$ Body-mass guild [†] 3 $ 2.5$ 0.058 Body-mass guild × logging type 6 $ 1.0$ 0.453		Tropics selective harvesting		-0.02	(-0.07, 0.02)		
Temperate selective harvesting [†] -0.03 $(-0.07, 0.005)$ Body-mass guild [†] 3 2.5 0.058 Body-mass guild × logging type 6 1.0 0.453		Temperate clearcut harvesting*		-0.15	(-0.20, -0.11)		
Body-mass guild3—2.50.058Body-mass guild \times logging type6——1.00.453		Temperate selective harvesting [†]		-0.03	(-0.07, 0.005)		
Body-mass guild \times logging type 6 — 1.0 0.453		Body-mass guild ^{\dagger}	3			2.5	0.058
		Body-mass guild \times logging type	6			1.0	0.453

Table 5. Models describing logging effects on avian species composition of nest-site, forage-site, dietary, and body-mass guilds across latitudes. Model predicting changes in the identities and relative abundances of species (based on abundance data, or β_{BC}) following logging are shown. See Table 1 for description of parameters

*Significant at P < 0.05.

[†]Marginally significant at P < 0.10.

to regrow following disturbance. Thus, logging followed by human land use likely leads to greater reductions in species richness and changes in species composition than we report here (Edwards *et al.*, 2010; Newbold *et al.*, 2015). Furthermore, proliferations of human land-use activities as well as climate change are threatening an unprecedented level of vegetation change across the globe (Gibbs *et al.*, 2010; Gottfried *et al.*, 2012). A thorough understanding of the global impacts these changes will have on species richness and composition of animal communities, as well as on animal



Fig. 8. Legend on next column.

fitness, will be essential to conserving biodiversity around the world.

V. CONCLUSIONS

(1) This meta-analysis has shown that logging has dramatically different effects on animal species richness and composition in tropical compared to temperate forests as evidenced by differential responses of avian species richness and composition to logging across latitudes. This is the first comprehensive assessment of logging effects on species richness and composition across tropical and temperate latitudes for any animal taxonomic group.

(2) Logging in tropical forests led to a loss of species that breed and forage in all forest strata (ground to canopy), causing severe reductions in bird species richness. This result suggests that many tropical species across all forest strata specialize in late-successional forest habitat.

(3) Logging in lower latitude north- and south-temperate forests generally did not affect the richness or identities of avian species. While most forest-dwelling species in these latitudes appeared to be habitat generalists, logging in these latitudes did change their relative abundances. This suggests that existence of both logged and unlogged forests would ensure that all species have healthy regional population abundances.

(4) Logging in higher-latitude north-temperate forests did not alter species richness, but did alter the identities and relative abundances of avian species. Logging at higher latitudes generally replaced lost late-successional specialist species with early-successional specialist species. This pattern suggests that a landscape including both logged and unlogged forests would support maximal regional diversity. A historic regime of large-scale, stand-replacing wildfires in high-latitude compared to lower-latitude forests may account for the increase in species that specialize in early-successional habitat at higher latitudes.

(5) Clearcut harvesting was devastating to avian communities in higher-latitude temperate forests and dramatically altered the relative abundances of bird species in lower-latitude temperate forests. Thus, clearcut-logging practices should be avoided if possible.

Fig. 8. Effects of logging on (A) bird species richness, (B) bird species composition measured by the loss and gain of species $(\beta_{\rm J})$, and (C) bird species composition measured by the change in species relative abundances $(\beta_{\rm BC})$ across pure (conifer or deciduous only) and mixed (conifer mixed with deciduous) north-temperate forest types. Temperate clearcut-logging studies are in blue and temperate selective-logging studies are in green. Means ($\pm 95\%$ C.I.) are indicated for each logging type (clearcut and selective harvest) in their respective colour, and overall forest type means (across harvest types) are in black. Larger points indicate increased total spatial extent (sample size × spatial extent per sample) of a study.

Model	Variable	d.f.	Slope	Slope C.I.	F	<i>P</i> -value
Change in species	Years since logging	1	0.01	(-0.05, 0.07)	0.2	0.682
richness	Basal area retention	1	0.03	(-0.05, 0.12)	0.7	0.396
$r^2 = 0.424$	Regional species pool size (γ)	1	0.03	(-0.04, 0.11)	0.8	0.383
$\mathcal{N} = 61$	Absolute latitude*	1			4.1	0.048
	Logging type (clearcut vs. selective) [†]	1			3.0	0.089
	Absolute latitude \times logging type [*]	1			7.9	0.007
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		-0.25	(-0.39, -0.11)		
	Temperate selective harvesting		-0.03	(-0.11, 0.05)		
	Forest type (pure vs. mixed forest) [†]	1			2.9	0.095
Change in species	Years since logging*	1	-0.06	(-0.10, -0.02)	9.2	0.004
composition (β_I)	Basal area retention	1	0.01	(-0.05, 0.06)	0.04	0.843
$r^2 = 0.645$	Regional species pool size (γ)	1	-0.01	(-0.06, 0.04)	0.2	0.688
$\mathcal{N} = 61$	Absolute latitude	1			1.1	0.294
	Logging type (clearcut vs. selective)*	1			13.5	0.001
	Absolute latitude \times logging type [*]	1			6.6	0.013
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		0.10	(0.03, 0.17)		
	Temperate selective harvesting		-0.01	(-0.07, 0.04)		
	Forest type (pure vs. mixed forest)*	1			18.8	< 0.001
Change in species	Years since logging*	1			10.0	0.003
composition (β_{BC})	Basal area retention	1	-0.01	(-0.08, 0.06)	0.1	0.702
$r^2 = 0.637$	Regional species pool size $(\gamma)^{\dagger}$	1	-0.06	(-0.12, 0.005)	3.3	0.079
N = 41	Absolute latitude	1	-0.03	(-0.09, 0.04)	0.6	0.451
	Logging type (clearcut vs. selective)*	1			14.9	0.001
	Years since $\log y = \log y$	1			0.5	0.503
	Temperate clearcut harvesting*		-0.12	(-0.20, -0.03)		
	Temperate selective harvesting*		-0.08	(-0.16, -0.003)		
	Forest type (pure vs. mixed forest) ^{\dagger}	1			1.6	0.217

Table 6. Models describing effects of logging on local avian species richness and composition across pure (conifer or deciduous only) and mixed (conifer and deciduous) north-temperate forest types. See Table 1 for description of parameters

*Significant at P < 0.05.

[†]Marginally significant at P < 0.10.

(6) Removing less basal area during logging did not eliminate, but mitigated the loss of species from tropical forests. In some cases, removing less basal area during logging increased avian diversity in temperate forests.

(7) This meta-analysis provides insights into the important role of habitat specialization in determining differential responses of animal communities to logging across tropical and temperate latitudes.

VI. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank our lab group for providing helpful comments. I would also like to thank Jennifer LaManna for help classifying species into breeding and foraging guilds. This publication was developed under STAR Fellowship Assistance Agreement no. FP-91747701-0 awarded by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and through funding from the Bair Foundation, the Montana Department of Fish, Wildlife, and Parks, and the National Science Foundation (DEB-1241041, IOS-1349178). It has not been formally reviewed by EPA. The views and conclusions expressed in this publication are those of the authors. The authors declare no conflicts of interest. Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

VII. REFERENCES

References marked with asterisk have been cited within the supporting information.

- *ABBOTT, I., MELLICAN, A., CRAIG, M. D., WILLIAMS, M., LIDDELOW, G. & WHEELER, I. (2003). Short-term logging and burning impacts on species richness, abundance, and community structure of birds in open eucalypt forest in Western Australia. *Wildlife Research* **30**, 321–329.
- *ALEXIO, A. (1999). Effects of selective logging on a bird community in the Brazilian Atlantic forest. *Condor* **101**, 537–548.
- ANDERSON, M. J., CRIST, T. O., CHASE, J. M., VELLEND, M., INOUYE, B. D., FREESTONE, A. L., SANDERS, N. J., CORNELL, H. V., COMITA, L. S. & DAVIES, K. F. (2011). Navigating the multiple meanings of β diversity: a roadmap for the practicing ecologist. *Ecology Letters* 14, 19–28.
- *ANNAND, E. M. & THOMPSON, F. R. (1997). Forest bird response to regeneration practices in central hardwood forests. *Journal of Wildlife Management* **61**, 159–171.
- *BAKER, M. D. & LACKI, M. J. (1997). Short-term changes in bird communities in response to silvicultural prescriptions. *Forest Ecology and Management* **96**, 27–36.
- *BEESE, W. J. & BRYANT, A. A. (1999). Effect of alternative silvicultural systems on vegetation and bird communities in coastal montane forests of British Columbia, Canada. *Forest Ecology and Management* **115**, 231–242.
- *BOARDMAN, L. A. & YAHNER, R. H. (1999). Wildlife communities associated with even-aged reproduction stands in two state forests of Pennsylvania. *Northern Journal* of Applied Forestry 16, 89–95.
- BOWMAN, J., JAEGER, J. A. & FAHRIG, L. (2002). Dispersal distance of mammals is proportional to home range size. *Ecology* 83, 2049–2055.
- BURIVALOVA, Z., ŞEKERCIOĞLU, Ç. H. & KOH, L. P. (2014). Thresholds of logging intensity to maintain tropical forest biodiversity. *Current Biology* 24, 1893–1898.

CHALFOUN, A. D. & SCHMIDT, K. A. (2012). Adaptive breeding-habitat selection: is it for the birds? Auk 129, 589–599.

- *CHAMBERS, C. L. & MCCOMB, W. C. (1997). Effects of silvicultural treatments on wintering bird communities in the Oregon coast range. Northwest Science 71, 298–304.
- *CHAMBERS, C. L., MCCOMB, W. C. & TAPPEINER, J. C. (1999). Breeding bird responses to three silvicultural treatments in the Oregon coast range. *Ecological Applications* 9, 171–185.
- CLARK, T. S. & LINZER, D. A. (2015). Should I use fixed or random effects? *Political Science Research and Methods* 3, 399–408.
- CLEARY, D. F., BOYLE, T. J., SETYAWATI, T., ANGGRAENI, C. D., LOON, E. & MENKEN, S. B. (2007). Bird species and traits associated with logged and unlogged forest in Borneo. *Ecological Applications* 17, 1184–1197.
- *CLEARY, D. F. R., GENNER, M. J., BOYLE, T. J. B., SETYAWATI, T., ANGRAETI, C. D. & MENKEN, S. B. J. (2005). Associations of bird species richness and community composition with local- and landscape-scale environmental factors in Borneo. *Landscape Ecology* **20**, 989–1001.
- *CRAIG, M. D. & ROBERTS, J. D. (2005). The short-term impacts of logging on the jarrah forest avifauna in south-west Western Australia: implications for the design and analysis of logging experiments. *Biological Conservation* **124**, 177–188.
- *CUETO, V. R. & DECASENAVE, J. L. (2000). Bird assemblages of protected and exploited coastal woodlands in east-central Argentina. *Wilson Bulletin* 112, 395–402.
- *DEFERRARI, G., CAMILION, C., PASTUR, G. M. & PERI, P. L. (2001). Changes in Nothofagus pumilio forest biodiversity during the forest management cycle. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 10, 2093–2108.
- DEL HOYO, J., ELLIOTT, A., SARGATAL, J., CHRISTIE, D. A. & DE JUANA, E. (2014). Handbook of the Birds of the World Alive. Lynx Edicions, Barcelona.
- *DELLASALA, D. A., HAGAR, J. C., ENGEL, K. A., MCCOMB, W. C., FAIRBANKS, R. L. & CAMPBELL, E. G. (1996). Effects of silvicultural modifications of temperate rainforest on breeding and wintering bird communities, Prince of Wales Island, southeast Alaska. *Condor* 98, 706–721.
- *DRANZOA, C. (1998). The avifauna 23 years after logging in Kibale National park, Uganda. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 7, 777–797.
- *DRAPEAU, P., LEDUC, A., GIROUX, J., SAVARD, J. L., BERGERON, Y. & VICKERY, W. L. (2000). Landscape-scale disturbances and changes in bird communities of boreal mixed-wood forests. *Ecological Applications* **70**, 423–444.
- DRAY, S. & DUFOUR, A. B. (2007). The ade4 package: implementing the duality diagram for ecologists. *Journal of Statistical Software* 22, 1–20.
- *DURÃES, R., CARRASCO, L., SMITH, T. B. & KARUBIAN, J. (2013). Effects of forest disturbance and habitat loss on avian communities in a Neotropical biodiversity hotspot. *Biological Conservation* 166, 203–211.
- EDWARDS, D. P., HODGSON, J. A., HAMER, K. C., MITCHELL, S. L., AHMAD, A. H., CORNELL, S. J. & WILCOVE, D. S. (2010). Wildlife-friendly oil palm plantations fail to protect biodiversity effectively. *Conservation Letters* 3, 236–242.
- *EDWARDS, D. P., LARSEN, T. H., DOCHERTY, T. D. S., ANSELL, F. A., HSU, W. W., DERHÉ, M. A., HAMER, K. C. & WILCOVE, D. S. (2011). Degraded lands worth protecting: the biological importance of Southeast Asia's repeatedly logged forests. *Proceedings of the Rayal Society B* 278, 82–90.
- EDWARDS, D. P., WOODCOCK, P., NEWTON, R. J., EDWARDS, F. A., ANDREWS, D. Jr., DOCHERTY, T. D., MITCHELL, S. L., OTA, T., BENEDICK, S., BOTTRELL, S. H. & HAMER, K. C. (2013). Trophic flexibility and the persistence of understory birds in intensively logged rainforest. *Conservation Biology* 27, 1079–1086.
- EGGER, M., DAVEY SMITH, G., SCHNEIDER, M. & MINDER, C. (1997). Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *British Medical Journal* 315, 629–634.
- *FELTON, A., WOOD, J., FELTON, A. M., HENNESSEY, B. & LINDENMAYER, D. B. (2008). Bird community responses to reduced-impact logging in a certified forestry concession in lowland Bolivia. *Biological Conservation* 141, 545–555.
- *FLASPOHLER, D. J., HUCKINS, C. J. F., BUB, B. R. & VAN DUSEN, P. J. (2002). Temporal patterns in aquatic and avian communities following selective logging in the upper great lakes region. *Forest Science* 48, 339–349.
- *FRANZREB, K. E. & OHMART, R. D. (1978). The effects of timber harvesting on breeding birds in a mixed-coniferous forest. *Condor* 80, 431–441.
- *FREEDMAN, B., BEAUCHAMP, C., MCLAREN, I. A. & TINGLEY, S. I. (1981). Forestry management practices and populations of breeding birds in a hardwood forest in Nova Scotia. *Canadian Field Naturalist* **95**, 307–311.
- FRETWELL, S. D. & LUCAS, H. L. (1970). On territorial behavior and other factors influencing habitat distribution in birds. I. Theoretical development. *Acta Biotheoretica* 19, 16–36.
- GIBBS, H. K., RUESCH, A. S., ACHARD, F., CLAYTON, M. K., HOLMGREN, P., RAMANKUTTY, N. & FOLEY, J. A. (2010). Tropical forests were the primary sources of new agricultural land in the 1980s and 1990s. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 16732–16737.
- GOTTFRIED, M., PAULI, H., FUTSCHIK, A., AKHALKATSI, M., BARANČOK, P., ALONSO, J. L. B., COLDEA, G., DICK, J., ERSCHBAMER, B. & KAZAKIS, G. (2012). Continent-wide response of mountain vegetation to climate change. *Nature Climate Change* 2, 111–115.
- GRAY, M. A., BALDAUF, S. L., MAYHEW, P. J. & HILL, J. K. (2007). The response of avian feeding guilds to tropical forest disturbance. *Conservation Biology* 21, 133–141.

- *GREENBERG, C. H., HARRIS, L. D. & NEARY, D. G. (1995). A comparison of bird communities in burned and salvage-logged, clearcut, and forested Florida sand pine scrub. *Wilson Bulletin* **107**, 40–54.
- *GUILHERME, E. & CINTRA, R. (2001). Effects of intensity and age of selective logging and tree girdling on an understory bird community composition in central Amazonia, Brazil. *Ecotropica* 7, 77–92.
- *HAAVIK, A. & DALE, S. (2012). Are reserves enough? Value of protected areas for boreal forest birds in southeastern Norway. *Annales Zoologici Fennici* 49, 69–80.
- *HAGAR, J. C., MCCOMB, W. C. & EMMINGHAM, W. H. (1996). Bird communities in commercially thinned and unthinned Douglas-fir stands of western Oregon. *Wildlife Society Bulletin* 24, 353–366.
- HAMER, K. C., NEWTON, R. J., EDWARDS, F. A., BENEDICK, S., BOTTRELL, S. H. & EDWARDS, D. P. (2015). Impacts of selective logging on insectivorous birds in Borneo: the importance of trophic position, body size and foraging height. *Biological Conservation* 188, 82–88.
- *HANSEN, A. J., MCCOMB, W. C., VEGA, R., RAPHAEL, M. G. & HUNTER, M. (1995). Bird habitat relationships in natural and managed forests in the west Cascades of Oregon. *Ecological Applications* 5, 555–569.
- HANSEN, M. C., STEHMAN, S. V. & POTAPOV, P. V. (2010). Quantification of global gross forest cover loss. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107, 8650–8655.
- HILL, J. K. & HAMER, K. C. (2004). Determining impacts of habitat modification on diversity of tropical forest fauna: the importance of spatial scale. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **41**, 744–754.
- *IMBEAU, L., SAVARD, J. L. & GAGNON, R. (1999). Comparing bird assemblages in successional black spruce stands originating from fire and logging. *Canadian Journal* of Zoology 77, 1850–1860.
- IVES, A. R. & CARPENTER, S. R. (2007). Stability and diversity of ecosystems. Science 317, 58–62.
- *JOBES, A. P., NOL, E. & VOIGT, D. R. (2004). Effects of selection cutting on bird communities in contiguous eastern hardwood forests. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 68, 51–60.
- *JOHNS, A. D. (1991). Responses of Amazonian rain forest birds to habitat modification. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 7, 417–437.
- JOHNSON, E., MIYANISHI, K. & BRIDGE, S. (2001). Wildfire regime in the boreal forest and the idea of suppression and fuel buildup. *Conservation Biology* 15, 1554–1557.
- *JONES, M. J., MARSDEN, S. J. & LINSLEY, M. D. (2003). Effects of habitat change and geographical variation on the bird communities of two Indonesian islands. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 12, 1013–1032.
- KARR, J. R. & ROTH, R. R. (1971). Vegetation structure and avian diversity in several New World areas. *American Naturalist* 105, 423–435.
- *KAVANAGH, R. P. & STANTON, M. A. (2003). Bird population recovery 22 years after intensive logging near Eden, New South Wales. *Emu* 103, 221–231.
- *KHANAPOSHTANI, M. G., KABOLI, M., KARAMI, M., ETEMAD, V. & BANIASADI, S. (2013). Effects of logged and unlogged forest patches on avifaunal diversity. *Environmental Management* 51, 750–758.
- *KING, D. I. & DEGRAAF, R. M. (2000). Bird species diversity and nesting success in mature, clearcut and shelterwood forest in northern New Hampshire, USA. Forest Ecology and Management 129, 227–235.
- KRAFT, N. J., COMITA, L. S., CHASE, J. M., SANDERS, N. J., SWENSON, N. G., CRIST, T. O., STEGEN, J. C., VELLEND, M., BOYLE, B., ANDERSON, M. J., CORNELL, H. V., DAVIES, K. F., FREESTONE, A. L., INOUYE, B. D., HARRISON, S. P. & MYERS, J. A. (2011). Disentangling the drivers of beta diversity along latitudinal and elevational gradients. *Science* 333, 1755–1758.
- *LAMANNA, J. A., HEMENWAY, A. B., BOCCADORI, V. & MARTIN, T. E. (2015). Bird species turnover is related to changing predation risk along a vegetation gradient. *Ecology* 96, 1670–1680.
- *LAMBERT, F. R. (1992). The consequences of selective logging for Bornean lowland forest birds. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B* 335, 443–457.
- *LANCE, A. N. & PHINNEY, M. (2001). Bird responses to partial retention timber harvesting in central interior British Columbia. *Forest Ecology and Management* 142, 267–280.
- MACARTHUR, R. H. (1972). Geographical Ecology: Patterns in the Distribution of Species. Harper and Row, New York.
- MACARTHUR, R. H. & MACARTHUR, J. W. (1961). On bird species diversity. *Ecology* 42, 594–598.
- MACARTHUR, R., RECHER, H. & CODY, M. (1966). On the relation between habitat selection and species diversity. *American Naturalist* **100**, 319–332.
- MACARTHUR, R. H. & WILSON, E. O. (1963). An equilibrium theory of insular zoogeography. *Evolution* 17, 373–387.
- *MACDONALD, M. A., APIOLAZA, L. A. & GROVE, S. (2005). The birds of retained vegetation corridors: a pre- and post-logging comparison in dry sclerophyll forest in Tasmania. *Forest Ecology and Management* 218, 277–290.
- *MARDSEN, S. J. (1998). Changes in bird abundance following selective logging on Seram, Indonesia. *Conservation Biology* 12, 605–611.
- MARTIN, T. E. (1988). Habitat and area effects on forest bird assemblages: is nest predation an influence? *Ecology* 69, 74–84.

- *MASON, D. (1996). Responses of Venezuelan understory birds to selective logging, enrichment strips, and vine cutting. *Biotropica* 28, 296–309.
- MØLLER, A. P. & JENNIONS, M. D. (2001). Testing and adjusting for publication bias. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 16, 580–586.
- MYERS, J. A., CHASE, J. M., JIMÉNEZ, I., JØRGENSEN, P. M., ARAUJO-MURAKAMI, A., PANIAGUA-ZAMBRANA, N. & SEIDEL, R. (2013). Beta-diversity in temperate and tropical forests reflects dissimilar mechanisms of community assembly. *Ecology Letters* 16, 151–157.
- NEWBOLD, T., HUDSON, L. N., HILL, S. L., CONTU, S., LYSENKO, I., SENIOR, R. A., BÖRGER, L., BENNETT, D. J., CHOIMES, A. & COLLEN, B. (2015). Global effects of land use on local terrestrial biodiversity. *Nature* 520, 45–50.
- NEWBOLD, T., HUDSON, L. N., PHILLIPS, H. R., HILL, S. L., CONTU, S., LYSENKO, I., BLANDON, A., BUTCHART, S. H., BOOTH, H. L., DAY, J., DE PALMA, A., HARRISON, M. L., KIRKPATRICK, L., PYNEGAR, E., ROBINSON, A., SIMPSON, J., MACE, G. M., SCHARLEMANN, J. P. & PURVIS, A. (2014). A global model of the response of tropical and sub-tropical forest biodiversity to anthropogenic pressures. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 281 (doi: 10.1098/rspb.2014.1371).
- *NORTON, M. R. & HANNON, S. J. (1997). Songbird response to partial-cut logging in the boreal mixedwood forest of Alberta. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 27, 44–53.
- NOVOTNY, V., DROZD, P., MILLER, S. E., KULFAN, M., JANDA, M., BASSET, Y. & WEIBLEN, G. D. (2006). Why are there so many species of herbivorous insects in tropical rainforests? *Science* **313**, 1115–1118.
- *O'DEA, N. & WHITTAKER, R. J. (2007). How resilient are Andean montane forest bird communities to habitat degradation? *Biodiversity and Conservation* 16, 1131–1159. Organized Research Rese
- OKSANEN, J., BLANCHET, F. G., KINDT, R., LEGENDRE, P., MINCHIN, P. R., O'HARA, R. B., SIMPSON, G. L., SOLYMOS, P., HENRY, M., STEVENS, H. & WAGNER, H. (2015). Vegan: community ecology package. R package, version 2.2-1.
- *PEH, K. S.-H., DE JONG, J., SODHI, N. S., LIM, S. L. H. & YAP, C. A.-M. (2005). Lowland rainforest avifauna and human disturbance: persistence of primary forest birds in selectively logging forests and mixed-rural habitats of southern peninsular Malaysia. *Biological Conservation* **123**, 489–505.
- PIANKA, E. R. (1966a). Convexity, desert lizards, and spatial heterogeneity. *Ecology* 47, 1055–1059.
- PIANKA, E. R. (1966b). Latitudinal gradients in species diversity: a review of concepts. *American Naturalist* **100**, 33–46.
- *POLITI, N., HUNTER, M. & RIVERA, L. (2012). Assessing the effects of selective logging on birds in Neotropical piedmont and cloud montane forests. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 21, 3131–3155.
- POOLE, A. (2005). *The Birds of North America Online*. Cornell Laboratory of Ornithology, Ithaca. Available at http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/BNA/. Accessed 23.1.2015.
- *PRESTON, M. I. & HARESTAD, A. S. (2007). Community and species responses by birds to group retention in a coastal temperate forest on Vancouver Island, British Columbia. *Forest Ecology and Management* 243, 156–167.
- PULLIAM, H. R. (2000). On the relationship between niche and distribution. *Ecology Letters* 3, 349–361.
- R Core Development Team (2014). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna. Available at http://www.R-project.org/. Accessed 3.11.2014.
- RICKLEFS, R. E. (2008). Disintegration of the ecological community. American Naturalist 172, 741–750.
- *ROBINSON, W. D. & ROBINSON, S. K. (1999). Effects of selective logging on forest bird populations in a fragmented landscape. *Conservation Biology* 13, 58–66.
- *RODEWALD, A. D. & YAHNER, R. H. (2000). Bird communities associated with harvested hardwood stands containing residual trees. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 64, 924–932.
- ROTH, R. R. (1976). Spatial heterogeneity and bird species diversity. *Ecology* 57, 773–782.
- SALISBURY, C. L., SEDDON, N., COONEY, C. R. & TOBIAS, J. A. (2012). The latitudinal gradient in dispersal constraints: ecological specialisation drives diversification in tropical birds. *Ecology Letters* 15, 847–855.
- SCHLAEPFER, M. A., RUNGE, M. C. & SHERMAN, P. W. (2002). Ecological and evolutionary traps. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 17, 474–480.
- *SEKERCIOGLU, C. H. (2002). Effects of forestry practices on vegetation structure and bird community of Kibale National Park, Uganda. *Biological Conservation* 107, 229–240.

- *SERONG, M. & LILL, A. (2012). Changes in bird assemblages during succession following disturbance in secondary wet forests in south-eastern Australia. *Emu* 112, 117–128.
- *SHANKAR RAMAN, T. R. & SUKUMAR, R. (2002). Responses of tropical rainforest birds to abandoned plantations, edges and logged forest in the Western Ghats, India. *Animal Conservation* 5, 201–216.
- *SIEGEL, R. B. & DESANTE, D. F. (2003). Bird communities in thinned versus unthinned Sierran mixed conifer stands. Wilson Bulletin 115, 155–165.
- *SIMON, N. P. P., SCHWAB, F. E. & DIAMOND, A. W. (2000). Patterns of breeding bird abundance in relation to logging in western Labrador. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 30, 257–263.
- *SIMONS, T. R., SHRINER, S. A. & FARNSWORTH, G. L. (2006). Comparison of breeding bird and vegetation communities in primary and secondary forests of Great Smoky Mountains National Park. *Biological Conservation* **129**, 302–311.
- *ST-LAURENT, M., FERRON, J., HINS, C. & GAGNON, R. (2007). Effects of stand structure and landscape characteristics on habitat use by birds and small mammals in managed voreal forest of eastern Canada. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 37, 1298–1309.
- *TAYLOR, R. J. & HASELER, M. E. (1995). Effects of partial logging systems on bird assemblages in Tasmania. Forest Ecology and Management 72, 131–149.
- *THIOLLAY, J.-M. (1992). Influence of selective logging on bird species diversity in a Guianan rain forest. *Conservation Biology* 6, 47–63.
- VANDERWEL, M. C., MALCOLM, J. R. & MILLS, S. C. (2007). A meta-analysis of bird responses to uniform partial harvesting across North America. *Conservation Biology* 21, 1230–1240.
- *VIDAURRE, M., PACHECO, L. F. & ROLDÁN, A. I. (2006). Composition and abundance of birds in Andean alder patches with past and present harvest in Bolivia. *Biological Conservation* 132, 12–21.
- *WALTERT, M. (2000). Forest management and the distribution of understory birds in the Bossematié forest, eastern Ivory Coast. Ostrich 71, 295–299.
- *WALTERT, M., MARDIASTUTI, A. & MÜHLENBERG, M. (2005). Effects of deforestation and forest modification on understory birds in central Sulawesi, Indonesia. *Bird Conservation International* 15, 257–273.
- *WHITMAN, A. A., HAGAN, J. M. & BROKAW, N. V. L. (1998). Effects of selection logging on birds in northern Belize. *Biotropica* 30, 449–457.
- WILLSON, M. F. (1974). Avian community organization and habitat structure. *Ecology* 55, 1017–1029.
- *WUNDERLE, J. M., MAGALLI PINTO HENRIQUES, L. & WILLIG, M. R. (2006). Short-Term Responses of Birds to Forest Gaps and Understory: An Assessment of Reduced-Impact Logging in a Lowland Amazon Forest. *Biotropica* 38, 235–255.
- *YAP, C. A.-M., SODHI, N. S. & PEH, K. S.-H. (2007). Phenology of tropical birds in peninsular Malaysia: effects of selective logging and food resources. *Auk* 124, 945–961.
- *ZHAO, Q., AZERIA, E. T., LEBLANC, M.-L., LEMAÎTRE, J. & FORTIN, D. (2013). Landscape-scale disturbances modified bird community dynamics in successional forest environment. *PLoS ONE* 8, e81358 (doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081358).

VIII. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found in the online version of this article.

Table S1. Published studies used in meta-analysesexamining logging effects on local turnover of aviancommunities.

Fig. S1. Funnel plots showing model residuals plotted against total spatial extent (sample size × spatial extent per sample) of a study.

(Received 7 March 2016; revised 2 September 2016; accepted 8 September 2016)